Back to

Table of contents

M. TAREK SWELIM

AN INTERPRETATION OF THE MOSQUE
OF SINAN PASHA IN CAIRO

The mosque of Sinan Pasha was built in 979 (1571-72) at
the port of Bulaq in Cairo.' It was the fifth major reli-
gious building erected by the Ottomans after conquer-
ing Fgypt in 1517. This study will describe and evaluate
the architecture, decoration, and socio-religious interac-
tions of this mosque.*

Sinan Pasha ibn “Ali ibn “Abd al-Rahman® was of Alba-
nian origin, born around 1520, and raised among the
elite group of janissaries, the devshirme. He attained high
ranks at the Ottoman court and was appointed governor
of many important cities in the empire. On 24 Sha‘ban,
975 (23 February 1568), Sinan Pasha became wéli (gover-
nor) of Egypt.” His first tenure was shortlived, lasting for
only nine and a half months. On 13 Jumada al-Akhira,

976 (3 December 1568), he was re-called to take com-
mand of a campaign in Yemen to overthrow the Zaydis.®
Several years later, on 1 Safar 979 (25 June 1571), he was
appointed wdli of Egypt for the second time.” This time
he ruled for one year and ten months, until Dhu’l-Hijja,
981 (April 1573)," when he was ordered to lead another
campaign against the Spaniards at Halq al-Wadi in Tuni-
sia. In the following year, he commanded a third success-
ful campaign, this one against Georg_gia.g These victories
promoted Sinan Pasha to the position of sadr al-aSam
(grand vizier), a post he was appointed to five times be-
tween 1580 and 1595." In the same years he led two cam-
paigns into Hungary and Wallachia."

Sinan Pasha died in 1595 at the age of eighty, and was

Fig. 1. Cairo. The mosque of Sinan Pasha. (From the Description de UEgypte, pt. 1 [1809-28], pl. 25)
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Fig. 2. “The Port of Bulaq” by Robert Hay. (From Illustrations of Cairo [London, 1840], pl. 27)

buried in his mausoleum in the Sofiler quarter of Istan-  (fig. 2) " show thatit remained one of the major mosques
bul.” He had been a very wealthy man, and in all the at Bulaq to the end of the nineteenth century.” It was
locations over which he had had jurisdiction, he had partially demolished in 1902 to clear land for a new
ordered the construction of mosques and/or commer-
cial buildings, and for each of them had established
wagfs.

The mosque of Sinan Pasha at Bulaq was built on the
east bank overlooking the Nile. An illustration in the
Description de UEgypte (fig. 1)'* and another by Robert Hay

See 1150

Fig. 3. The mosque of Sinan Pasha. Ground Plan. (From Ministry of  Fig. 4. The mosque of Sinan Pasha. Elevation of the southeastern
Waqfs, The Mosques of Egypt) facade. (From Ministry of Wagqfs, The Mosques of Egypt)
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Fig. 6. The mosque of Sinan Pasha. Cross section. (From Ministry of Waqfs, The Mosques of Egypt, 1949)
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Fig. 7. The mosque of Sinan Pasha. Interior, qibla side.

street, but was restored during the reign of King Faruq
(1936-1952) and repaired in 1983."

The mosque is described in detail in its waqfiyya.'”” It
was part of a large complex which also included three
khans."® One was built next to the mosque and known
first as al-Khan al-Kabir, then, in the following century, as
the Wakalat al-Kharnub.” The second, the Khan al-Tawil,
was built opposite the first. Its name was later changed to
the Wakalat Riwaq al-Shawam.” The third, the Khan al-
Saghir incorporated a sabil-makiab. Other buildings in
the complex were a gasn; a bayt; a mathara; and a ham-
mam with shops around it.”

The Sinan Pasha mosque is a large domed structure
surrounded by porticoes on three sides and with a mina-
retatits south corner (fig. 3). The stone dome covers the
whole central part of the mosque and was originally cov-
ered with lead sheets.” Its drum is divided into two tiers
(fig. 4). The upper ter is a sixteen-sided drum. Fach fac-
et has a large trefoil window and octagonal turrets at its
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corners. The lower tier is octagonal and its sides have
double windows with pointed arches. The windows are
flanked by octagonal turrets which reflect those on the
upper tier, but are more massive.

The porticoes are on three sides of the domed cham-
ber (fig. 3) and are covered by small cupolas. Visually,
the porticoes enlarge the building and give it a horizon-
tal effect in harmony with the dome. Of the three
entrances to the building, those on the southwestern
and northwestern sides show a triple composition which
is not found on the northeastern entrance today (fig. 3).
According to the waqfiyya, the porticoes had twenty-
eight arches,” but there are only twenty-five today. Origi-
nally there must have been another triple composition
on the northeastern portico. The building of the new
street in 1902 probably destroyed the northeastern part
of the mosque’s enclosure wall which was then not re-
stored in 1936-1952.

Trefoil crenellations run along the entire length of the
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Fig. 8. The mosque of Sinan Pasha. Interior, dikka side.

arcaded facade. An illustration by Prisse d’Avennes (fig.
5) depicts stepped crenellations,” but either these were
replaced at a later date, or the artist invented them. The
same illustration also shows two mazwalas (sundials) on
the arcaded facade. The mazwalas bore the name of
Hasan al-Sawwaf in 1768-69.%

The waqfiyya states that there were two plain mihrabs
in the porticoes, a southern one, which appears to have
been destroyed during the series of renovations, was
originally carved next to the minaret. An eastern mihrab
remains today (figs. 3 and 6). Each of the three
entrances to the mosque has a wooden door and is
crowned by heavy muqarnas and paved with marble.

On the southern corner of the building is a short
heavy minaret (figs. 3 and 4),® reached through a
vaulted stairway from the southwest portico of the
mosque. It has two cylindrical shafts separated by a bal-
cony. Several tiers of mugarnas support the balcony. This
pencil-shaped minaret is typically Ottornan in style. The
upper part was once covered with sheets of lead and sur-
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mounted by a gilded copper crescent finial which has
survived.”” The Description de UEgypte illustration (fig. 1)
shows this minaret with rather exaggerated vertical pro-
portions.

Inside, the mosque has a large domed chamber,®
which is square in plan, although a circular impression is
provided by the dome.” Beneath the dome, the walls are
pierced by deep recesses, and its doors have metal grilles
and act as windows. The mihrab is decorated with mar-
ble paneling and chevron designs in its hood (figs. 6 and
7). It is flanked by marble columns and has an oculus
above it which is visible from outside. On the right is a
wooden minbar which is a later addition.” The entire
qgibla side is illustrated by Prisse d’Avennes in his L'Art
arabe® Above the northwestern entrance there is an
overhanging wooden dikka (fig. 8) supported by wooden
corbels. It is reached through an opening in the north-
ern recess of the northwestern wall (fig. 3).

The dome is carried on a transitional zone which starts
within the square and cannot be seen on the exterior. It
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Fig. 9. The mosque of Sinan Pasha. Interior, dome.

consists of a tripartite system of squinches over the win-
dow recesses at the four corners of the square. Their
hoods are decorated with muqarnas friezes. Above these
friezes, the corners on the southeastern side are topped
by an “Allah” motif in stone; those on the northwestern
side have sunburst designs (figs. 7 and 8). Above the
transitional zone are circular colored-glass windows,
each consisting of eight circles encompassing a central
one. They.are separated by slender engaged columns.
Between the windows the same pattern is repeated to
give a harmonious effect. This tier corresponds to the
lower tier of the drum which contains the double-arched
windows; however the latter are not visible from the inte-
rior, just as the circular windows cannot be seen from
outside. A walkway supported by tiers of muqgarnas and
having a wooden balustrade provides the base of the up-
per tier of the drum. It is reached through the same
opening of the overhanging dikka. At that level, there are
other stairs that lead up to the walkway. The stairs do not
appear on the plan (fig. 3). The trefoil fenestration can
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be seen from both inside and outside. On the interior
surface are metal rings from which chains for lamps were
originally suspended (fig. 9).

The waqgtiyya also gives the usual functions and duties
of the mosque.” Six readers were appointed to recite,
read, and chant the Qur’an daily between the dawn and
the morning prayers. After the morning prayer forty-one
readers were required to gather inside the mosque to
recite the Surat al-An“Gm until it was time for the noon
prayer.” Later in the day, sixty other readers gathered in
the mosque immediately after the afternoon prayer and
had to read the entire Qur’an twice. This performance
lasted until it was time for the sunset prayer. Their shaykh
al-qurr@ (chief reader) was assigned to read from a large
manuscript which was placed in front of him on a kursi
(stand). He would start the reading performance, and
then the sixty readers followed, each of whom had a part
to read. They all had to end by reciting the Siirat al-Ikhids,
which was followed by two ta<widhas (religious incanta-
tions), and then the Sirat al-latha. The performances
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continued in the evening, but on a smaller scale. Only
six readers performed from twilight until evening prayer.

The plan of the mosque of Sinan Pasha is, like the
minaret, of Ottoman inspiration,34 modeled after
mosques built in Turkey during the sixteenth century, al-
though on a much smaller scale. However, it is unlike the
plans of earlier Cairene Ottoman mosques, namely
those of Sulayman Pasha at the Citadel (1528); the Takiy-
ya Sulaymaniyya (1543); the mosque of Dawud Pasha
(1548), and the Mahmudiyya complex (1568), which
have either shallow or high domes. The hemispherical
shape of the dome of the mosque of Sinan Pasha also dis-
tinguishes it from the high domes of the Mamluk pe-
riod;® it was the first of its kind in Cairo.

The trefoil recesses around the dome visible from
both inside and outside, are believed by Patricolo to
resemble those found on the Fatimid mausoleum of Say-
yida Rugayya (1183)."° At the mosque of Sinan Pasha,
however, these recesses are much larger. The typically
Ottoman minaret also differs from earlier Cairene Otto-
man minarets; it can be considered as a visual statement
of the Ottomanization of the port of Bulaq.

The porticoes with the mihrabs surrounding the
domed chamber, Rogers believes were used to shelter
latecomers to the mosque, a characteristic feature found
in the Ottoman architecture of Istanbul.*” Rogers is not
sure whether the overhanging dikka is a gynaeceum or a
royal box in which the ruler prayed.” This type of dikka
was used by rulers because it allowed them a degree of
privacy and security, which was often greatly needed.
However, in the waqfiyya, it is referred to as a dikka
khashab (wooden dikka) intended for mu’adhdhins. Had
it been intended as a royal box, the waqfiyya would have
called it a magsura, had it been intended for use as a
gynaeceum, the document would have said that it was for
the harim.

Its use by the mu’adhdhins appears to be an anusual
feature in Cairo. The counterpart of these mu’adhdhins
would be the muézin mahfilis in Turkish Ottoman
mosques. The overhanging dikka was probably used for
the continuous readings which took place in the build-
ing during the day by the masses of readers and worship-
ers; they probably needed to have more than one
mw’adhdhin in the building to call them to prayer. The
mwadhdhin also announced the beginning and end of
the various reading and chanting performances and reg-
ulated the orderly progression of activities. This function
was not a common one in earlier Cairene mosques. The
overhanging dikka was also architecturally successful.
Had it been supported on columns, it would have bro-
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ken the circular effect of the interior and inhibited circu-
lation in what was a rather small building. This type of
dikka was known, but was not common, in Cairene
mosques of the Mamluk period. It was a feature found in
important Ottoman mosques in Istanbul, which made it
fashionable in both early and late Ottoman mosques in
Cairo.

The transitional zone’s tripartite system of squinches
is not an Ottoman feature, but was adopted from late-
Mamluk-period domes. There are four domed buildings
which exhibit this system of squinches,” the qubba of
Yashbak Min Mahdi at Matariyya (1477); the Qubba al-
Fadawiyya (1479); the qubba of Ma“bad al-Rifa“i (1478);
and that of the Zawiyat al-Damirdash (before 1498).
These domed buildings are attributed to the period of
the Mamluk Sultan Qaitbay. A similar system was utilized
by Cairene architects to build the interior domed cham-
ber of the mosque of Sinan Pasha. However, it is not
based entirely on the Mamluk prototype. Only the lower
part of the structure and the transitional zone resemble
the Qaitbay group of buildings. The general structure of
the dome does not recall this Mamluk form.

Bates deals with the mosque of Sinan Pasha by com-
paring it to the Mahmudiyya complex.” She explains the
use of the tripartite system of squinches in the transi-
tional zone of the mosque of Sinan Pasha as the solution
the architects found nearby when confrouted with a
problem they could not solve. The solution in this case
was borrowed from Mamluk structures, i.e., the Qaitbay
group of domed buildings. 1 tend to disagree with this
theory simply because I do not believe that the architect
of the mosque of Sinan Pasha had any problems to solve
when he built the dome of his mosque. Cairene archi-
tects had long had experience in building domed struc-
tures in stone, and in Istanbul the architect Sinan was
challenging himself in the magnificent domed royal
complexes he was designing. Had the architect sought a
solution from an outside source, he had these options
from which to choose. He could have followed the sys-
tem used at the Sulayman Pasha mosque at the Citadel,
by supporting the dome on pendentives, or he could
have followed the system used at the mausoleum of the
Mahmudiyya complex, by supporting the dome on
mugqarnas squinches, but he did not do either. Instead
he presented his unusual tripartite system of squinches.
That this Mamluk prototype was used instead of others
suggests that the architect was experimenting with new
construction techniques based on local Cairene tradi-
tions.

Two major schools of architecture had developed in
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Ottoman Cairo. The first maintained traditional Mam-
luk elements and, though somewhat independent in
character, was a rather poor expression of that style;
throughout the Ottoman period the traditional Mamluk
style remained popular in Cairo, mainly as it was mani-
fested in the Mahmudiyya complex. The second school
followed the domed Ottoman type known throughout
the empire, though on a provincial scale. This provincial
Ottoman school was fully developed in Cairo, with the
mosque of Malika Safiyya built in 1610. The example of
Sinan Pasha was repeated only once, in the mosque of
Muhammad Bey Abu’l-Dhahab in 1774.

The interior of the mosque of Sinan Pasha lacks deco-
ration and shows no traces of painting inside the dome.
One would have expected paintings such as those in the
mosque of Sulayman Pasha, but restorers have not
traced an original design, if there was any. It also has no
marble dadoes, stucco decorations, ceramic tiles, or
inscriptions. The only decorated areas are the marble
mihrab and the tripartite system of squinches. The mih-
rab with a chevron pattern is of a typical Mamluk style, as
is the sunburst decoration in the hoods of the uilobed
squinches, which are present in many Mamluk portals
and mihrabs. However, the “Allah” motif is seen only on
a few mihrabs of the Mamluk period. The appearance of
this motif on the gibla side might suggest that it was
intended to give the effect of having two additional mih-
rabs in the mosque.*

The interior decoration of the mosque is a mixture of
styles: the trefoil recesses on the dome are Fatimid, the
chevron pattern, the sunburst design, and the “Allah”
motif are Mamluk, the circular windows around the up-
per tier of the transitional zone are Ottoman. The con-
trast between the Fatimid, Mamluk, and Ottoman motifs
in the decoration of the mosque give the building a char-
acter of its own.

The walkway provides an interesting feature in the
mosque with its wooden balustrade. The waqfiyya does
not provide any information about the function of the
walkway. However it is a feature that can only be seen in
Turkish Ottoman buildings, and was not previously
known in Cairo, although it appears again in the mosque
of Malika Safiyya later on. It is unlikely that the walkway
was intended to be used for prayer since it is narrow and
would not provide sufficient space, and because the only
possible way to reach it is by climbing the stairs which
lead to the overhanging dikke and then entering
through one of the trefoil-like window recesses. It is pos-
sible that it was a place where bodyguards and security
men could stand to protect the ruler while he prayed.
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Another possible function is that it was used for cleaning
and maintaining the trefoil-like windows and for lighting
the lamps suspended from the interior of the dome (fig.
9). The waqfiyya of Sinan Pasha informs us that it was the
duty of the wagqad 10 light the oil lamps every day at
dawn and sunset and then to extinguish them after the
evening prayer.”” The lamps which were suspended by
chains from the metal rings in the dome were probably
hung to the level of the walkway and its balustrade, since
the mosque does not have the usual wooden beams run-
ning round the drum (from which lamps would be
hung) that were common in a domed building in Cairo.
The walkway and its balustrade may therefore well have
been used by the wagqgad to light and extinguish the
lamps.

The absence of inscriptions in the building is also
unusual. One would expect an inscription band at least
above the transitional zone or at the center of the dome
following Mamluk examples; there are no traces of any.
Visually, they are replaced by the balustrade and the
mugarnas tiers supporting the walkway. Inscriptions in
mosques convey either a poetic, political, or religious
message; perhaps the poetic message of the Sinan Pasha
mosque is transmitted through its beautiful setting over-
looking the Nile; the political message is expressed by its
Ottoman character; and the existence of God is
expressed everywhere in a mosque. That divine message
in the mosque of Sinan Pasha seems to have been trans-
mitted in a ditferent way, perhaps through the contin-
uous religious rituals and reading performances which
took place throughout the day inside the building. It was
a vocal message rather than a visual one. Another possi-
bility is that a vocal message would be more effective in
impressing all social classes, not merely those who could
read. These ideas add more to the new Ottoman identity
of the mosque of Sinan Pasha. The absence of inscrip-
tions can be interpreted as part of the experimental pe-
riod which sought to initiate a new character for Cairene
Ottoman architecture.

Sinan Pasha possibly never saw his mosque completed,
but it nonetheless symbolizes the great success Ottoman
rulers had in Cairo. Such a large commercial complex,
incorporating three khans, a sabil-maktab, a bayt, a qas,
a hammam with shops, and the mosque added to the
importance of Bulaq as a commercial center. The dome
and minaret of the mosque of Sinan Pasha surely added
1o its Ottomanization. Bulaq was the elite quarter as well
as the chief commercial port of the city.

From an art historical point of view, the mosque of
Sinan Pasha represents an attempt to introduce a differ-
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ent architectural style. Its distinctive Ottoman exterior
contrasts with its Mamluk interior. The mixture of Fati-
mid-style windows with Mamluk and Turkish details and
the absence of -inscriptions give the mosque a distinctive
character. Such a mixture was not found in the earlier
architecture of Cairo. In addition, the use of the tripar-
tite system of squinches shows that the mosque of Sinan
Pasha represented an experimental period in which the
Ottomans were imposing a new architectural character
on Cairo. However, the city’s major schools of architec-
ture finally chose to follow traditional Mamluk-style and
Turkish-style imitations. That this new type was not
repeated until the mosque of Muhammad Bey Abu’l-
Dhahab two centuries later (in 1774) leads us to believe
that it was regarded as unsuccessful.

Merchants from all over the Mediterranean came to
Cairo and crossed directly to Bulaq from the north of the
city.” Pilgrimage caravans also stopped there on their
way to and from Mecca. For these travelers the first and
the last vision of the city was the mosque of Sinan Pasha,
the dominant building in the port of Bulaq.

Cairo, Egypt
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